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Iran Divestment Act Certification 

Frequently Asked Questions 

1.  When should the certification form be signed and 

where does it fit within the procurement process?  

Please add it as an attachment to your solicitation 

document and have it returned with the Vendor's 

offer. 

2.  Who is authorized to sign the certification form? Any person in a position to bind the Vendor is 

authorized to sign the certification (it can be the 

same person who signs bid or the financial 

certification).  P&C is adding this certification as 

an attachment to its standard solicitation templates 

so it will be signed at the time the bid is submitted. 

3.  Is the certification form required for both 

businesses and individuals? 

The certification applies to any “natural person, 

corporation, company, limited liability company 

business association, partnership, society, trust, 

any other nongovernmental entity or group,” as 

well as to any governmental entity (other than a 

MOU between two state agencies). 

4.  How will the Iran Divestment Act effect P-Card 

purchases?  

A single transaction greater than $1,000 requires a 

signed certification. 

5.  Is it necessary to have a signed certification for 

each purchase even if there is one on file for the 

Vendor from a previous contract? 

Yes. The certification is valid only at the time of 

the particular purchase for which it is made. 

Therefore, it applies only to that single purchase. 

6.  Is it necessary to have a signed form for every 

Vendor that’s been issued an order greater than 

$1,000? If so, can the original signed form be 

kept on file and reused? Or is it required that the 

form be signed for each order? 

Unfortunately, the legislation requires the 

certification every “time the bid is submitted or the 

contract is entered into, renewed, or 

assigned.”  Thus, a new certification must be 

signed for each new contract formation. 

7.  What if the combined purchases from a Vendor is 

more than $1,000 but no single purchase exceeds 

$1,000? 

The certification is required on a per transaction 

basis.  For example, if you purchase $999 worth of 

goods from Vendor A today and another $999 

worth from Vendor A the following week, then no 

certification is needed.  If you purchase $1,001 of 

goods from Vendor A today, and make an order 

for another $1,001 worth next week, then two 

certificates are required. 
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Iran Divestment Act Certification 

Frequently Asked Questions 

8.  Is it necessary to obtain the signed certification 

from E-Procurement Vendors? 

Yes.  The only time a certification is not required 

before a P.O. is sent is when a purchase is made 

from a statewide or agency-specific term 

contract.  In the case of a term contract, the 

certification is made at the time the term contract 

is entered. 

9.  Please explain why E-Procurement is not being 

used to require Vendors to complete this 

particular action.  

The statute requires the certification to be made at 

the time of bidding or before the contract is 

finalized.  Nothing in the E-procurement system 

allows for that timing.  In addition, not all Vendors 

for purchases between $1,000 and $10,000 are 

registered in the E-procurement system. 

10.  It is understood that the certification is to go with 

contracts, amendments, renewals, etc. over 

$1,000 - but what about just normal, regular 

orders? 

The certifications requirement is applicable to 

every order made above $1,000 regardless of the 

method used to place the order, unless the order is 

made pursuant to a pre-existing contract—for 

example, a Statewide Term Contract.  

11.  Does the Act apply to P.O.'s for non-contract 

items between $1,000 and $4,999 where formal 

solicitation may not occur? 

When a Vendor fulfills a P.O. it creates a contract, 

so the Act applies and a certification is required. 

12.  Does the Act apply to term contract purchases 

above $1,000? 

P&C will obtain the certification at the time a term 

contract is entered, so P.O.’s sent to order items 

under that contract will not need an additional 

certification. 

13.  If a Vendor such as Forms and Supply (who is a 

state contract Vendor) offers a product that an 

agency is in need of but the product is NOT on 

the state contract, is it necessary to complete the 

certification? Many Vendors have state contracts 

for certain items, but they also sell other items.  If 

an item is not on contract through those Vendors, 

must they still sign the certification? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

If the purchase is not within the scope of a term 

contract, even if the Vendor has a term contract for 

other items, a certification must be obtained.   
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Iran Divestment Act Certification 

Frequently Asked Questions 

14.  Consider the following scenario: An agency 

checks the Final Divestment List and finds that 

Vendor X is not on the list, and, therefore, issues 

a contract or P.O. for over $1,000. However, 

when the new Divestment List is issued 180 days 

later, Vendor X appears on the list and is now in 

the middle of a contract term, performing contract 

services. Must the contract be terminated? 

The scope of the Vendor certification is limited to 

the date it was executed.  If the certification was 

true at the time it was signed, then a later change 

does not invalidate the contract (but it would 

prevent any contract renewal or extension). 

15.  Please define the word "contract" as it pertains to 

this Act.  In law courses, contract has a very 

broad meaning--offer and acceptance equals a 

contract.  Therefore, if we issue a purchase order 

(offer) and the Vendor accepts it by sending an 

acknowledgment or supplying the goods or 

service, we have a contract.   

If a P.O. is sent in connection with a prior contract 

(e.g., a Statewide Term Contract) then a 

certification was signed at the time that contract 

was entered, and no additional certification is 

needed.  If however, the P.O. is sent as an offer for 

the Vendor to accept, then a certification must be 

signed at the same time.  See the answer to 

question # 17 for a technical definition of 

“contract.” 

16.  Please clarify. The terms "contracts and 

amendments" were used. However, P.O.’s were 

not mentioned specifically. Is this Act for actual 

contracts only?  

If a P.O. is sent for goods on a statewide contract, 

then the certification was made at the time that 

contract was entered and another certificate is not 

required.  If there is no pre-existing contract, 

however, and the P.O. is sent in order to form a 

contract when the Vendor ships the goods, then a 

certification is needed before the P.O. goes out.  

Shipping goods in response to a P.O. creates an 

“actual contract.” 
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Iran Divestment Act Certification 

Frequently Asked Questions 

17.  The Iran Divestment Act does not define 

“contract.”  

Black’s Law Dictionary defines “contract” as “an 

agreement between two or more parties creating 

obligations that are recognizable at law.”  In other 

words, it is a promise (or, usually, reciprocal 

promises) structured in such a way as to obligate 

one party to perform and to give the other party a 

right to enforce that obligation under law.  This 

“structure” involves three elements: offer (of 

specific terms and conditions), acceptance (of 

those terms and conditions) and consideration 

(something of value flowing between the parties).  

When the contract is in writing, the offer and 

acceptance are generally signaled by the signatures 

of the parties, but in some cases may be 

established by one party performing its 

obligation(s). 

18.  Does the certification apply to P.O.'s and 

payments to Vendors on Statewide Term 

Contracts? 

No.  See answer to question #12. 

19.  Does the certification apply to Personal Service 

Contracts? 

Yes (required to be signed at time of each renewal, 

amendment or new contract). 

20.  Does the certification apply to currently posted 

solicitations? 

Yes (required before agreement can be fully 

executed). 

21.  Does the certification apply to future 

solicitations? 

Yes (required before agreement can be fully 

executed). 

22.  Does the certification apply to eQuote? Yes. 
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Iran Divestment Act Certification 

Frequently Asked Questions 

23.  Does the certification apply to conference 

registration fees and travel expenses (airfare, 

hotels, meals, etc.)? 

Probably not.  Registration fees are not covered 

because there is no document with terms and 

conditions definite enough to create a contract. 

Generally, travel is a series of individual 

transactions (airfare, hotel room, meals, vehicle 

rental) by each person travelling.  If one of those 

transactions exceeds $1,000, that transaction may 

require a certification if paid directly by a state 

agency. Reimbursement to an employee for travel 

expenses does not require a certification because it 

is the employee, not the state, who formed the 

contract for each of those items.  Air travel is a 

special case because airlines operate in a federally 

regulated environment that preempts enforcement 

of state law that “relates to rates, routes or service 

of any air carrier.”  An argument can be made that 

the Act, by attempting to place additional 

restrictions on contracts for air travel, is preempted 

by federal law.  P&C is not in a position to offer a 

legal opinion on this issue, and agencies should 

make their own decision when directly contracting 

for air travel costing more than $1,000. 

24.  Once a Vendor completes the certification, how 

long is it good for? 180 days? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The certification is good for the initial term of that 

contract, but only for that single contract. As long 

as the Vendor is not on the list when the 

certification is made. The next certification will be 

needed only on renewal. 
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Iran Divestment Act Certification 

Frequently Asked Questions 

 

25.  Consider the following scenario: You have many 

MOU's with colleges for training. So is the 

certification required for purchases from other 

state and local government agencies? 

An MOU with another state agency or another 

state entity does not require a certification because 

all units of state government are considered to be 

parts of the same entity “The state of North 

Carolina,” and the law does not recognize an 

agreement with oneself as a contract.  The 

definition of “state agency” under the Act includes 

political subdivisions of the state.  As to other  

non-state government entities, a certification is 

required.  The Act requires a certification from any 

“person that attempts to contract with the State or 

political subdivision of the State,” and the 

definition of “person” includes “any governmental 

entity or instrumentality of a government.” 

26.  What about Vendors who are on a state contract 

such as Grainger (445B)?  Must we get the form 

signed each time an order on 445B is over 

$1,000?   

Because solicitations for Statewide Term 

Contracts will require a certification at the time the 

bid is submitted, individual orders placed under 

that contract will not need a new certificate. 

27.  Is it necessary to attach an unsigned form to the 

requisition in E-Procurement and add a comment 

such as “Payment will be withheld until the form 

is returned signed” (This would mean the 

unsigned form would be delivered with the actual 

P.O. to the Vendor).  

The statute says, “A State agency shall require a 

person that attempts to contract with the State or 

political subdivision of the State, including a 

contract renewal or assumption, to certify, at the 

time the bid is submitted or the contract is 

entered into…”  If the certification form is sent 

with the P.O., it must be signed or returned as a 

condition of the goods being accepted.  P&C 

recommends stronger language be used, such as: 

 

“Return of an executed copy of the enclosed 

Certification is a material condition of any contract 

based on this purchase order.  If goods are 

received without a signed Certification, the goods 

will be rejected and no payment will be 

made.  Return of rejected goods shall be at 

Vendor’s expense.” 


